STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

RECEIVED

12-21-2015

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Case No.

2015AP002041-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

Jose Alberto REYES FUERTE,

Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

On Appeal From Denial of Motion To Withdraw Plea Honorable Alan J. White Columbia County Circuit Court Case No. 12-CF-582

> Ben M Crouse Wisconsin Bar No. 1073936

Sesini Law Group, S.C.
Counsel for Jose A. Reyes Fuerte
234 West Florida Street, Ste 203
Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53204
(414) 224-8080
ben@sesinilaw.com

STATEMENT OF ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Defendant-Appellant, Mr. Reyes, submits that briefing may be sufficient and oral argument may not be necessary to aid the Court in determining the issues raised on appeal, however Mr. Reyes welcomes oral argument if the Court believes it would be helpful.

The publication of the Court's opinion would help clarify the interpretation of Wis. Stat. §§ 971.08(1)(c) and (2). WIS. STAT. § 809.23(1)(a)1 and 2.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Is mere "substantial compliance" with Wisconsin Statute § 971.08(1)(c), enough to require dismissal of a motion to withdraw a guilty plea after the Court failed to deliver the full statutory warning?

If so, did the Court here substantially comply with the above statute, when it failed to mention naturalization, confused citizenship with residency, referred to Mr. Reyes' conviction rather than guilty plea, and prefaced its advisal with language suggesting that adverse consequences were unlikely?

In denying the motion to withdraw Mr. Reyes's plea, did the Court's "totality of the circumstances" test incorrectly focus on Mr. Reyes' "understanding" of the immigration consequences of his conviction instead of the more limited test of the adequacy of the Court's language?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises from the Portage County Circuit Court's February 20, 2014 plea colloquy with Mr. Jose Alberto Reyes Fuerte, a Mexican immigrant. During that colloquy, the Court delivered an advisal which differed from that required by Wisconsin Statute § 971.08(1)(c). (28:5; App.130). Aside from minor linguistic differences, the Court's attempted advisal failed to mention naturalization, conflated citizenship with residency, referred to Mr. Reyes' conviction rather than guilty plea, and even prefaced its advisal with language suggesting that adverse consequences were unlikely. After that advisal Mr. Reyes pled guilty to a felony, and became ineligible for a defense against deportation.

Mr. Reyes filed a motion to withdraw his plea of guilty under Wisconsin Statute § 971.08(2) based on the Court's failure to fully provide the statutory advisal. (21; 1-5; App 121-125). The Circuit Court denied the motion, however, concluding that it had substantially complied with the statutory mandate. (23:2; App. 101-102). In so concluding, the Court did not merely compare the specific language of its advisal to the one contained in the statute, but applied a novel

"totality of the circumstances" analysis which seemed to focus on Mr. Reyes' legal knowledge and the adequacy of his representation. *Id*.

This Court should reject the Court's approach and reverse the Circuit Court's denial of Mr. Reyes' motion. The Court's advisal differed materially from the statutory one and therefore does not comply with § 971.08(1)(c).

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The defendant, Mr. Reyes was born in Mexico and entered the U.S. in February of 2000. (21: 1; App. 121). He is not a US Citizen, but he has two US Citizen children: Harina, 6, and Alan, 4. *Id*.

On February 20, 2014, he pled guilty in Columbia County Circuit Court to a Class I Felony for Fleeing or Eluding an Officer as well as a misdemeanor for operating with a restricted controlled substance. (28:12; App. 137). The felony has been classified as a "Crime Involving Moral Turpitude" by the Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit. *See Cano-Oyarzabal v. Holder*, 774 F.3d 914 (7th Cir., 2014) (interpreting this statute in relation to 8 USC § 1182(a)(2)(A)). His conviction, therefore, left him ineligible

for cancellation of removal, a defense against deportation. *See* 8 USC § 1229b(b)(1)(C). But for Mr. Reyes' 2012 guilty plea, he would be eligible for a defense against deportation. (21:1; App 121).

During the plea colloquy, the trial court gave only a partial advisal of the potential immigration consequences of a guilty plea as compared to the full statement required by \$971.08(1) (c). Specifically, the Court stated:

Alright. And another thing I want to make sure of is that – has [defense counsel] made you aware of the fact that any conviction basically --- Usually we're looking at felonies, but any conviction to a person who is not a resident of the United States could lead, at some point in the future, to that person either being denied re-entry or that person being required to leave this country. And I am not saying that's going to happen at all. I'm just saying that convictions can lead to those results. Do you understand that?

(28:5; App.130).

On June 16, 2015, Mr. Reyes moved the Columbia County Circuit Court to withdraw his guilty plea solely on the basis of Wisconsin Statute section 971.08, and pointing to the deficiencies in the above advisal. (21:1-5; App 121-125). The State responded with a letter simply stating that it was opposed to the motion, and on September 2, 2015 the Court held a hearing on the merits of that motion. (22:1). At the hearing, the State argued against reopening, because the

Court's advisal was sufficient, citing *State v Mursal*. 2013 WI App 12, 351 Wis. 2d 180, 839 N.W.2d 173. (29: 8-9; App. 111-112).

On September 10, 2015 the Court issued a written decision denying Mr. Reyes' motion. (23:1-2; App. 101-102). The Court reasoned that substantial compliance with the statute was sufficient, and that it substantially complied because the differences between its advisal and the stature were minor, and that in any event, the "totality of the circumstances" showed that Mr. Reyes understood "that his conviction could lead to deportation."

The present appeal followed.

-

 $^{^{1}}$ During its argument, the State also referred to several unrelated cases interpreting *Padilla v Kentucky*.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This case is one of undisputed facts and statutory interpretation, and thus presents a question of law for the Court to review independently. *See State v. Negrete*, 2012 WI 92, ¶15 343 Wis.2d 1, 819 N.W.2d 749.

ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court erred in denying Mr. Reyes' motion to withdraw his plea for three reasons. First, substantial compliance is not enough to satisfy Wisconsin Statute section 971.08. Second, even if substantial compliance were the law, the defects here are too great. And third, a defective plea colloquy cannot be cured by the defendant's alleged "understanding."

I. The Circuit Court erred as a matter of law in ruling that Wisconsin Statute § 971.08(1)(c) requires merely "substantial compliance."

Strict compliance with Wisconsin Statute section 971.08(1)(c) is required. The statutory language and published case law interpreting it are clear. A Court must read the precise admonishment to a defendant. Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(c) reads:

(1) Before the court accepts a plea of guilty or no contest, it shall do all of the following:

(c) Address the defendant personally and advise the defendant as follows: "if you are not a citizen of the United States of America, you are advised that a plea of guilty or no contest for the offense with which are you charged may result in deportation, the exclusion from admission to the this country or the denial of naturalization, under federal law."

As to the meaning of this paragraph, the Wisconsin Supreme Court simply left no room for interpretation. It reasoned "the language is bracketed by quotation marks, an unusual and significant legislative signal that the statute should be *followed by the letter*." *State v. Douangmala*, 253 Wis. 2d 173 ¶21 (2002) (Citing *State v. Garcia*, 2000 WI APP 81 ¶16) (emphasis added).

Thus, when Hawaii's Supreme Court interpreted Wisconsin's *Douangmala* decision, they concluded that it required "strict compliance" with the written admonishments. *State v. Sorino*, 117 P.3d 847, 855 (HI, 2005) (Acting C.J. Nakamura dissenting).² The language of the decision is that clear.

"Strict compliance" need not be taken to the point of absurdity, however. Very minor linguistic discrepancies in that advisal may not require withdrawal of a plea. *State v.*

8

² The majority's decision in *Sorino* left Hawaii as something of an outlier among the states. Ultimately the majority did not analyze the content of the terse advisal actually delivered but focused on the defendant's understanding. *See Sorino*, 117 P.3d at 850.

Mursal, cited in the decision below, is a perfect example of minor linguistic discrepancies which could still satisfy a strict compliance regime. *See, e.g. State v. Mursal*, 351 Wis. 2d 180, 839 N.W.2d 173, 2013 WI App 125 (Wis. App., 2013).

In that case, the court stated the following: "You need to know if you're not a citizen of the United States, your plea can result in deportation, exclusion from admission to this country or denial of naturalization under federal law." *Id.* at ¶ 4. Language differences here included: the contraction "you're" from "you are" and the omission "of America" after United States. The biggest difference was the Judge's use of the phrase "your plea" instead of the statute's "a plea of guilty or no contest for the offense with which you are charged." But this reference to the case at hand did not strip any meaning from the statute.

Therefore, the minor linguistic differences litigated in *Mursal* did not truly test the "strict compliance" rule with the Appellate Court. Given the oral nature of advisals, even a "strict compliance" regime may make allowances for the very minor linguistic discrepancies so long as they do not alter the meaning of in any way.

A common-sense approach like that appropriately balances the legislature's clear intent that specific language be provided directly to the defendant while acknowledging the reality of oral advisals.

II. Even if "substantial compliance" were sufficient to satisfiy the statute, the advisal here fails.

Even if Wisconsin broke with clear, established precedent and instead established a "substantial compliance" rule, the Court here did not substantially comply with requirements for several reasons. First, "substantial compliance" can be achieved only by discussing all three distinct consequences outlined in the statute: *deportation*, *exclusion of admission, and denial of naturalization*. Second, the Court's use of immigration terms of art "resident" instead of "citizen" led to a substantive misstatement of the law. And third, by using the word "conviction" rather than "plea," the advisal subtly directed attention away from the voluntary act of pleading.

As addressed above, there is no "substantial compliance" rule in Wisconsin. But when crafting a new rule, it makes sense to look to other states. And here Wisconsin's immigration admonishment law requirement is

hardly unique. Many others adopted statutes substantially similar to Wisconsin Statute Section 971.08, including its discussion of immigration consequences of a plea.³ And indeed, many courts around the United States have addressed litigation around incomplete advisals. Some have ruled that a plea may be withdrawn and a conviction vacated only if the Circuit Court failed to substantially comply with the requirements.

Outside Wisconsin, many Courts use a "substantial compliance" rule to hold that minor errors in recitation do not require reopening, but vague admonitions regarding immigration are not enough. For example, the Rhode Island Supreme Court found that a Court's vague admonishment was insufficient to constitute "substantial compliance." *Machado v. Rhode Island*, 839 A.2d 509, 513 (R.I. 2003). In that case, the trial court had this dialogue with a defendant pleading guilty:

THE COURT: You also understand that because of the fact that you are a resident alien here that this may have some effect upon what happens with the immigration service. Do you understand that?

³ See for example: Cal. Penal Code § 1016.5(a) (California); Conn. Gen. Stats. § 54-1j(a) (Connecticut); Neb. Rev. Stat. § 29-1819.02 (Nebraska) R.I. Gen. Laws §12-12-22(b) (Rhode Island); Tex. Code Crim. Proc.Ann. Art. 26.13(c) (Texas).

Id. at 511. The Court concluded that this was insufficient because it was too vague, and did not address all three possibilities discussed in the statute. Id. Those three possibilities are deportation, exclusion of admission, or denial of naturalization. See id.

Like Rhode Island, the California Court of Appeals has interpreted its statute to require "the court to warn the defendant expressly of each of the three distinct possible immigration consequences of his conviction(s) prior to his plea." *People v. Gontiz*, 68 Cal.Rptr.2d 786, 58 Cal.App.4th 1309 (Cal. App. 3 Dist., 1997).

One notable exception inevitably comes from Texas, where the Court of Appeals found that the following advisal substantially complied with its statutes:

Do you understand that a conviction in this case, if you're not a citizen or if you're not legally in this country, that it could mean that you would have to be sent back to your original country? That would not be done by this--do you understand that it could happen?

Garcia v. State, 877 S.W.2d 809 (Tex.App.-Corpus Christi, 1994). This advisal differed drastically from the statute, but short of a "complete failure to admonish" the Court would not reopen. *Id.* at 813.

On the "near-miss" end of the spectrum of advisals, Nebraska's Court of Appeals found an advisal to be sufficient despite containing grammatical errors like those in *Mursal*. *See State v. Molina-Navarrete*, 739 N.W.2d 771 (Neb. App., 2007). In that Case, the Court of Appeals declined to permit the withdrawal stating:

Specifically, the only differences between the district court's advisement and the exact statutory language were that the district court did not use the words "you are hereby advised," used the words "causing you to be removed" instead of "removal from," used the words "deported or denied naturalization" instead of "denial of naturalization," and failed to include "pursuant to" prior to "laws of the United States.

Id. at 776. This was close enough, the Court ruled.

With the exception of Texas, Courts in other states are clear on the extremes of the issue: vague admonishments do not constitute "substantial compliance," but an advisal containing only linguistic differences does. But as addressed above, a common-sense interpretation of the strict compliance rule can already adequately dispose of minor linguistic differences.

A closer call comes out of the Connecticut Supreme Court in *State v. Malcolm*, 778 A.2d 134 (Conn., 2001). There the Court found substantial compliance when a trial Court stated to a defendant the following:

The law says that I have to tell you that if you're not a citizen of the United States, conviction of this offense can result in your being deported, being denied admission to the United States or being denied readmission to the United States, have you discussed that with your lawyers too?

Id. at 140-141.

By ignoring naturalization, the Connecticut Court failed to address one of three listed consequences of conviction. This would, therefore, likely not satisfy Rhode Island's or California's clear, formal rule. *See Machado v. Rhode Island*, 839 A.2d 509, 513 (R.I. 2003). But that was the only substantive difference between the advisal the Judge delivered from the statutory one (the Connecticut statute contained the word "conviction" unlike Wisconsin's.) *See* Conn. Gen. Stats. § 54-1j.

Similarly, the Court of Appeals in the District of Columbia has held that a Judge substantially complied with the District's advisal rule when it mentioned of two out of the three potential immigration consequences. *Daramy v. United States*, 750 A.2d 552, 554 (D.C. 2000). Mentioning only one, however, was not substantial compliance. *Slytman v. United States*, 804 A.2d 1113, 1117 (DC, 2002).

Although the above cases provide some guidance as to crafting a "substantial compliance" rule, there were many

problems with the advisal in this case. The first was that the court did not mention the possibility of denial of naturalization. This omission alone would likely be enough warrant reopening under California and Rhode Island law. But it would not be enough automatically in Connecticut or the District of Columbia.

But there are two more significant errors in the case at hand. The more substantial of those was the Court's use of the word "resident" rather than "citizen." It is difficult to find any case law interpreting this issue, possibly because the concept of citizenship is so central to the advisal that the word is rarely omitted or misstated. Residence, under immigration laws may be conferred to many non-citizens. To suggest that immigration risks would not apply to residents is manifestly false.

Second, the Court used the word "conviction" rather than "plea." In a strict legal sense, unlike the above, this word does not render the sentence untrue. Indeed, some states use the word conviction in their advisals. *See*, *e.g.*, Conn. Gen. Stats. § 54-1j. But the Wisconsin Statute requires

-

⁴ Lawful Permanent Residence may be conferred under a number of federal statutes including 8 U.S.C. §§ 1255(a), (i) 1229b(b)(1), (2).

the Court to use the word "plea." Wisconsin Statute § 971.08. This word directs a defendant to think about the *voluntary act* of accepting responsibility instead of the legal conclusion that the word "conviction" carries. This is the entire purpose of the advisal.

Finally, if the Court adopts a substantial compliance regime for analyzing incomplete advisals under Wisconsin Statute § 971.08, it should, at a minimum, follow California and Rhode Island, and require a Court to list all three consequences: deportation, denial of naturalization, and denial of admission. Two out of three is not good enough. Furthermore, the three consequences are only part of the advisal. The Court must also explain what exactly triggers those consequences: 1) the defendant's guilty plea, and 2) his status as a non-citizen. In this case, the Court missed on both of those predicate statements. Therefore, the statute must fail even if substantial compliance becomes the law.

III. The Court erred in its "totality of the circumstances" analysis because it focused on Mr. Reyes' knowledge or understanding, which is irrelevant.

In its September 10, 2015 decision, the Circuit Court purported to determine whether it had substantially complied with the advisal statute by applying a "totality of the circumstances" test to determine whether the defendant actually understood the immigration consequences of his conviction.

The Court's test missed the point. The Wisconsin Legislature clearly wanted the Court itself to personally address the issue with the pleading defendant, rather than rely on the defendant's discussions with his criminal defense attorney, who often have little understanding of the complex Supreme immigration laws. The Wisconsin acknowledged the importance of that discussion Douangmala, 253 Wis. 2d. 173,¶3. See generally Padilla v. Commonwealth of Kentucky, 559 U.S. 356 (2010) (addressing the lack of knowledge of immigration laws by criminal defense attorneys).

Advising a defendant of the deportation consequences pursuant to WIS. STAT. § 971.08(1)(c) when accepting a plea of guilty or no contest is not an unfair burden on a circuit court because "pleading guilty or no contest is a serious event." *State v. Burns*, 266 Wis. 2d 762, 764-65, 594 N.W.2d 799. When pleading guilty, defendants waive significant constitutional rights, accept convictions, and are often incarcerated. *Id.* Defendants who are not U.S. citizens are

often giving up even more by pleading guilty; their right to stay in the United States. The legislature has recognized the magnitude of this loss by mandating the disclosures and advisements in § 971.08(1)(c). While Circuit Courts in Wisconsin are busy, the clear directive of § 971.08(1)(c) is not a duty to be delegated to others.

Such a rule would essentially resuscitate the "harmless error" exception that the Supreme Court abrogated in *Douangmala*. *See Douangmala*, at ¶ 32-39 (discussing *State v. Garcia*, 2000 WI App 81, ¶1, 234 Wis. 2d 304, 610 N.W.2d 180). Before *Douangmala*, a defendant could only reopen his conviction if he proved that he did not understand of the consequences of his conviction when he pled. But the Court very clearly abandoned that exception. *Id*.

Thus, a retroactive exploration of the defendant's knowledge at the time of his plea hearing is completely irrelevant when determining the sufficiency of an advisal. The test must focus exclusively on the substance of the advisal itself.

The Circuit Court should have vacated the no contest pleas because the Circuit Court failed to comply, strictly or substantially, with the requirements of § 971.08(1)(c)

regarding the deportation consequences of his guilty plea; and Mr. Reyes was rendered ineligible for a defense against deportation. *See Douangmala*, 253 Wis. 2d. 173, \P 23; WIS. STAT. § 971.08(2).

CONCLUSION

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