## **RECEIVED**

### STATE OF WISCONSIN

04-14-2016

# COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

**DISTRICT IV** 

Case No. 2015AP2041-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JOSE ALBERTO REYES FUERTE,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DENYING MOTION FOR PLEA WITHDRAWAL, ENTERED IN COLUMBIA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE ALAN J. WHITE, PRESIDING

### **BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

NANCY A. NOET Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1023106

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

to advise a client of the possible immigration consequences of a plea did not provide a basis for an ineffective assistance claim. So for many years, Wisconsin's statutory immigration warning, Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(c), was the only required immigration-related information that noncitizen defendants received before entering their pleas. And the warning became especially important in 1996 when one of the more dramatic changes in federal immigration law made removal from the United States virtually automatic for noncitizens who committed applicable crimes.<sup>3</sup> "While once there was only a narrow class of deportable offenses and judges wielded broad discretionary authority to prevent deportation, immigration reforms over time [] expanded the class of deportable offenses and limited the authority of judges to alleviate the harsh consequences of deportation." *Padilla*, 559 U.S. at 360.

-

"However, the JRAD procedure is no longer part of our law. Congress first circumscribed the JRAD provision in the 1952 Immigration and Nationality Act (INA), and in 1990 Congress entirely eliminated it [.]" *Padilla*, 559 U.S. at 363 (footnote omitted) (citation omitted). "In 1996, Congress also eliminated the Attorney General's authority to grant discretionary relief from deportation[.]" *Id.* (citation omitted). So if a noncitizen commits a removable offense after the 1996 effective date of these amendments, his removal from the country is "practically inevitable[.]" *Id.* at 363-64 (citing 8 U.S.C. § 1229b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> When it passed the Immigration Act of 1917, "[f]or the first time in our [nation's] history, Congress made classes of noncitizens deportable based on conduct committed on American soil." *Padilla V. Kentucky*, 559 U.S. 356,361 (2010) (citation omitted). The Act "authorized deportation as a consequence of certain convictions," but it also included a procedure, known as a judicial recommendation against deportation ("JRAD"), which allowed a sentencing court to make a recommendation that a noncitizen defendant not be deported. *Id.* A JRAD was binding on the executive branch and prevented deportation. *Id.* at 361-62. So "[e]ven as the class of deportable offenses expanded, judges retained discretion to ameliorate unjust results on a case-by-case basis." *Id.* at 362.

On the heels of these sweeping changes in federal immigration law, our supreme court decided *State v. Douangmala*, 2002 WI 62, 253 Wis. 2d 173, 646 N.W.2d 1. *Douangmala* parted with long-standing precedent for plea withdrawal motions and held that a plea withdrawal motion based on a circuit court's failure to provide the statutory immigration warning was not subject to the harmless error rule. In other words, defendants who did not receive the statutory warning could withdraw their pleas even if they were fully aware of the possible immigration consequences when they entered the pleas. *Id.* ¶ 42. While this extreme result may have made sense given the legal landscape at that time, it doesn't any longer.

Padilla created a new rule of law that now requires defense attorneys to give their clients accurate advice about the immigration consequences associated with their pleas. See Padilla, 359 U.S. at 368-69; see also Chaidez v. U.S., 133 S.Ct. 1103, 1113 (2013). The requirement of affirmative legal advice not only serves noncitizen defendants far better than the statutory warning, it provides a related remedy for plea withdrawal. So defendants who do not receive proper legal advice can withdraw their pleas based on the ineffective assistance of counsel. The problem is that *Douangmala* permits a defendant who does receive accurate legal advice about the immigration consequences of his plea to withdraw the plea simply because the circuit court failed to read the statutory warning. In light of Padilla, Douangmala should be overturned to reinstate application of the harmless error rule in cases where circuit courts fail to provide the statutory immigration warning, Wis. Stat. § 971.08.

### B. The Statute

On April 24, 1986, Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(c) became effective, adding an immigration advisory provision to the general plea withdrawal provisions already in place. 1985

Wisconsin Act 252, §§ 3 and 4. The amended statute then read, in relevant part:

- (1) Before the court accepts a plea of guilty or no contest, it shall do all of the following:
- (a) Address the defendant personally and determine that the plea is made voluntarily with understanding of the nature of the charge and the potential punishment if convicted.
- (b) Make such inquiry as satisfies it that the defendant in fact committed the crime charged.
- (c) Address the defendant personally and advise the defendant as follows: "If you are not a citizen of the United States of America, you are advised that a plea of guilty or no contest for the offense with which you are charged may result in deportation,<sup>4</sup> the exclusion from admission to this country or the denial of naturalization, under federal law."

Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(a)-(c) (1985-86).

In addition, a new subsection (2) provided the following remedy for a court's failure to provide the immigration warning required by Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(c):

If a court fails to advise a defendant as required by sub. (1) (c) and a defendant later shows that the plea is likely to result in the defendant's deportation, exclusion from admission to this country or denial of naturalization, the court on the defendant's motion shall vacate any applicable judgment against the defendant and permit the defendant to withdraw the plea and enter another plea. This subsection does not limit the ability to withdraw a plea of guilty or no contest on any other grounds.

Wis. Stat. § 971.08(2) (1985-86).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Federal statutes most often refer to deportation as "removal." The terms are used interchangeably in the *Valadez* decision and in this memorandum.

All of these provisions remain unchanged today. *See* Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(a)-(c) & (2) (2013-14).

C. Historically, Plea Withdrawal Claims Based On A Court's Failure To Give The Statutory Warning Were Treated Just Like Other Claims For Plea Withdrawal And Subject To The Harmless Error Rule.

In 1993, the court of appeals first addressed the unique nature of a motion for plea withdrawal based on a court's failure to give the immigration warning, as opposed to other violations under Wis. Stat. § 971.08. State v. Baeza, 174 Wis. 2d 118, 496 N.W.2d 233 (Ct. App. 1993). In *Baeza*, the defendant sought to withdraw his guilty plea because the circuit court failed to give him the statutory immigration warning. Baeza, 174 Wis. 2d at 121. Citing State v. Bangert, 131 Wis. 2d 246, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986), Baeza argued that a prima facie showing of a violation of Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(c) shifted the burden to the State to prove that the plea was entered knowingly and voluntarily despite the violation. Baeza, 174 Wis. 2d at 123. The court of appeals rejected that argument because (1) Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(c) was not in effect when *Bangert* was decided and (2) Wis. Stat. § 971.08(2) provided a specific remedy for a court's failure to give the immigration warning prior to accepting a plea. *Id.* at 125.

Later that same year, however, the court held that a court's failure to provide a proper immigration warning under Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(c) was subject to the harmless error rule. *State v. Chavez*, 175 Wis. 2d 366, 371, 498 N.W.2d 887 (Ct. App. 1993). In *Chavez*, the defendant argued that he was entitled to withdraw his plea even though he knew the potential immigration consequences of his plea at the time he entered it. *Chavez*, 175 Wis. 2d at 369. First noting that *Baeza* was limited to cases in which a defendant did *not* know the immigration

consequences of his plea, *Chavez*, 175 Wis. 2d at 369-70 n.1, the court went on to address the interaction between Wis. Stat. § 971.08 and Wisconsin's harmless error statute, Wis. Stat. § 971.26, which generally provides that the validity of a criminal proceeding is not affected by a defect in form that does not prejudice the defendant.<sup>5</sup>

Because the statutes created an ambiguity when read together, the *Chavez* court relied on the history of Wis. Stat. § 971.08, which demonstrated that "the legislature sought to alleviate the hardship and unfairness involved when an alien *unwittingly* pleads guilty or no contest to a charge without being informed of the consequences of such a plea." *Chavez*, 175 Wis. 2d at 371 (emphasis in original). Accordingly, the court found that

[T]he legislature did not intend a windfall to a defendant who was aware of the deportation consequences of his plea. As is true of a defendant who asserts ineffective counsel, prejudice is an essential component of the inquiry.

Chavez, 175 Wis. 2d at 371.

The following year, this court decided *State v. Issa*, 186 Wis. 2d 199, 519 N.W.2d 741 (Ct. App. 1994), and reaffirmed its holding that a defendant seeking plea withdrawal based on the circuit court's failure to provide the statutory immigration warning must allege both that he did not know or understand the omitted information and that he was prejudiced by the

No indictment, information, complaint or warrant shall be invalid, nor shall the trial, judgment or other proceedings be affected by reason of any defect or imperfection in matters of form which do not prejudice the defendant.

Wis. Stat. § 971.26 (1993-94) & (2013-14).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> That statute reads:

omission. *Issa*, 186 Wis. 2d at 204-05, 209-11.6 The court explained:

Although Issa has made a *prima facie* showing of the invalidity of his guilty pleas by virtue of noncompliance with § 971.08(1)(c), STATS., he is not, on that basis alone, automatically entitled to withdraw his guilty pleas. He is, however, entitled to an evidentiary hearing at which the State will have the burden "to show by clear and convincing evidence that [Issa's] plea[s] [were] nevertheless valid."

Issa, 186 Wis. 2d at 211 (alterations added in Issa) (citation omitted).

In *State v. Lopez*, 196 Wis. 2d 725, 728, 539 N.W.2d 700 (Ct. App. 1995), this court addressed the scope of *Baeza* in the context of Lopez's claim that *Baeza* and Wis. Stat. § 971.08(2) prohibited the court from using any information outside of the plea hearing record to assess his claim for plea withdrawal. Lopez also argued that *Chavez* and *Issa* improperly contradicted *Baeza* on that point. *Id.* at 730. This court disagreed and explained that *Chavez* and *Issa* were compatible with *Baeza* because *Baeza* addressed only the issue of burden shifting, not the permissibility of an evidentiary hearing on the issue of harmless error or prejudice. *Id.* at 731. Consistent with those cases, the *Lopez* court found that "if a defendant knows of the [deportation] potential even though not given the statutory colloquy, the error can be harmless." *Id.* at 732 (citation omitted).

Five years later, the court acknowledged the importance of the statutory immigration warning, but once again upheld the harmless error analysis, this time under circumstances that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> In doing so, the court once again emphasized that its decision in *Baeza* was strictly limited to cases in which the trial court did not advise the defendant of immigration consequences *and* the defendant did not know of those consequences. *Issa*, 186 Wis. 2d at 207 n.2.

illustrate the inequity that can result if a defendant seeking plea withdrawal for the circuit court's failure to provide a proper immigration warning is not required to prove prejudice:

First, the trial court, working through the interpreter, warned Garcia about the risk of deportation. Second, the court established that Garcia understood that if he was not a citizen he could be deported. Third, Garcia confirmed that he understood this warning. Fourth, the trial court repeatedly said during the plea hearing that no one could say for certain what the position of the INS would be regarding deportation. Fifth, the exchange between the court and Garcia's counsel at the sentencing hearing established that the risk of deportation was a prime consideration in the negotiation of the plea agreement. Garcia makes no claim that he was not consulted regarding the factors motivating the plea agreement. This record establishes that Garcia was not prejudiced by the trial court's failure to follow the express mandate of WIS. STAT. § 971.08(1)(c).

State v. Garcia, 2000 WI App 81, ¶ 14, 234 Wis. 2d 304, 610 N.W.2d 180.

D. Our Supreme Court Decides *Douangmala* And Holds That A Court's Failure To Give The Immigration Warning Properly Can *Never* Be Harmless Error.

Two years after *Garcia*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court addressed the harmless error issue for the first time in *State v. Douangmala*, 2002 WI 62, 253 Wis. 2d 173, 646 N.W.2d 1. The court departed with long-standing precedent and overruled *Chavez, Issa, Lopez,* and *Garcia*, holding instead that harmless error analysis simply does not apply when a court fails to give the immigration warning before accepting a defendant's plea. *Id.* ¶ 42. Focusing on the language of Wis. Stat. §§ 971.08(1)(c) and 971.08(2), the supreme court concluded that those provisions mandate plea withdrawal whenever a defendant shows that the circuit court did not give a proper immigration

and that he is likely to face adverse immigration consequences – even if the defendant was aware of those immigration consequences when he entered his plea. *Douangmala*, 253 Wis. 2d 173, ¶¶ 42, 46.

The supreme court dismissed the legislative history of Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(c) and (2), which indicated that the provisions were intended to alleviate the hardships of noncitizen defendants who unwittingly entered pleas without being informed of the related immigration consequences. Douangmala, 253 Wis. 2d 173, ¶¶ 27-31. Despite that legislative intent, the court simply concluded that the "legislature intended what the statute explicitly states[,]" and that "[n]othing in Wis. Stat. § 971.08 points to a different interpretation of the word 'shall' than an interpretation that the word signifies a mandatory act." Id. ¶ 31. The court held that "the Chavez harmless-error interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 971.08(2) is objectively wrong under the language of the statute." Id. ¶ 42. Notably absent from the opinion is any discussion or analysis of the interaction and inconsistency between Wis. Stat. § 971.08 and Wis. Stat. § 971.26 (the harmless error statute).<sup>7</sup>

Douangmala altered the standard plea withdrawal procedure<sup>8</sup> for claims based on the circuit court's failure to

\_\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The supreme court also noted, but failed to address, the impact of Wis. Stat. § 805.18, which instructs courts to disregard error that do not affect the substantial rights of an adverse and provides that no judgment shall be reversed or set aside unless the error affects the substantial rights of the party seeking relief. *Douangmala*, 253 Wis. 2d 173,  $\P$  32 n.12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> On a challenge to the plea colloquy itself, the defendant bears the initial burden to make a prima facie showing that the circuit court accepted the plea without satisfying its duties under Wis. Stat. § 971.08 or other mandatory procedures. *State v. Bangert*, 131 Wis. 2d 246, 274, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986); *see also State v. Hampton*, 2004 WI 107, ¶ 46, 274 Wis. 2d 379, 683

provide a proper immigration warning, and eliminated the State's ability to assume the burden of proof and show that the failure was harmless because the defendant was already aware of the immigration consequences of his plea. This extraordinary result may well have stemmed from policy concerns over the fact that at the time, the statutory immigration warning was the only advice that non-citizen defendants were entitled to receive about the immigration consequences of their pleas. However reasonable those concerns may have been, the *Douangmala* Court ignored legislative history and a clear inconsistency with Wisconsin's harmless error statute to reach the desired result. More importantly, the United States Supreme Court's decision in *Padilla v. Kentucky*, 559 U.S. 356 (2010), has now changed the legal landscape dramatically, and the same policy concerns no longer apply.

Ε. Now That **Defense** Attorneys Have Α Constitutional Obligation To Provide Their Clients With Accurate Advice About The Immigration Consequences Of Their Pleas, A Circuit Court's Failure To Give The Statutory **Immigration** Warning Should Not Allow Automatic Plea Withdrawal For Defendants.

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